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Plaiti Commodity Futures Traing Commission ("Commission"), filed ths action in

ths Cour on or about Janua 3, 2006, chagig that Defendant Interntional Investents

Holdings Corp. ("Ile"), Doreen Valo ("Valo") 8.d Fra DeSantis ("DeSantis")

(collectively the "Defendants") had engaged, ar engagig, and may be about to engage in acts

and prctices which constitute violations of Section 4c(b) of the Commodity Exchange Act

("Act"), 7 U,S.C. § 6c(b), and Commission Reguations ("Reguations") 1. 1 (b) (1) and (3),

32.9(a) and (c), 32.1 I (a), 17 C.F.R. §§ I.(b)(l) and (3), 32.9(a) and (c), and 32.1 l(a) by

solicitig the public for the offer and sale of ilegal, off-exchange foreign curency optons,

generated false statements for customer accounts and misappropriating customer fuds. The

Complaint seeks disgorgement of il-gotten gais frm a number of Relief Defendants.

The Commission ha moved ths Cour for Judgment by Default and Order of Permanent

Injunction. Based upon Plaintiffs memorandum in support of its motion and exhibits atthed

thereto, the record in this case, and the Cour being othrwse advised in the premises, it is

hereby

ORDERED tht Plaintiffs motion is granted and judgment by default and order of

permanent injunction is entered against Defendant IIHC ("Defendant") and judgment by default

is entered agait Relief Defendants ERV & Associates, Inc., Joe Valo Enterses. Inc.,

Jason's Roofing and Waterproofing, Inc., and Certfied Financial Servces, Inc. ("RelIef

Defendants")~ and the Cour hereby enters the following findings of fact and conclusions oflaw

findig the Defendant IIC liable as to all violations as alleged in the Complaint and Relief

Defendats liable as to all claims againt them in the Complaint. Accordingly, the Cour now

issues the followig Judgment by Default and Order of Permanent Injunction ("Order") against
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Defendat and Relief Defendats on issues of liabilty and injtmctive relief, and the appropriate

civil moneta penaties, disgorgement and restitution amounts.

I.

FINDINGS OF FACT AN CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Cour being fuy advised in the premises, finds tht there is good cause for the entr

of ths Orr and tht there is no just reason for delay. The Cour therefore, fuer directs the

entr of the followig Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and ancilar relief; puruat to

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2002), as set forth herein.

A. JUSDICTON

ll. Ths Cour ha subject matter jursdiction over ths action and the alegations in

the Complaint pursuant to Section 6c(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l(a) (2002)~

i 2. Tils Cour has personal jursdiction over Jedlicki pursuat to Secton 6c(a) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (a)(2002).

13. Venue properly lies with ths Cour purt to Sectlon 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ 13a-l(e) (2002), because Jedlicki resided in and tracted business in the Wester Distrct of

Nort Carolina.

B. FININGS OF FACT

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent feder reguatory

agency tht is chaged with responsibilty for administerig and enforcing the provisions of the

Act, as amended, 7 u.s.e. §§ 1 et seq. (2002), and the Regulations promulgated thereunder.

International Investments Holdings Corp, ("lllC"), is an Internationa Business

Corporaion ("IBC") formed in the Bahamas, which initially conducted business from Valko's

.home located at 4914 NW 52nd Avenue, Coconut Creek, Florida 33073, and later conducted
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par organation customer report of execution, monies due, call, and montly statements."

Pursuat to the tenns of the Agrement, the pares agreed tht "IIHC will hold cash, securties

and other propery received from fW orId Bans and IITG) on behalf of customers" in connection

with the purhase or sale of commodity optons contracts. IIHC ultimately accepted at least

$1. i 3 millon in customer fuds, puiortdly for executing trsactions involving commodities

on behalf of cusmers.

lIRe, thugh its agents, prepared and tranmittd to customers sttements entitled

"Trasaction Summar." These sttements were issued on IIHC lettrhead, purortedly frm the

"Chancery House, The Mall, Freeport Grd Bahama" address listed at the top of the statement.

The "Tranaction Sumar" issued by IIHC to customers stated "£TJhe followig trdes have

ben made ths day for your account and risk," and listed options contrcts purortedly bought or

sold On behaf of customers. The "Trasaction Sumar" statements were issued to 205

customers beginnng on or about July of2000, and endi in late March of2001 when World

Bans began winding down its opeations. Each "Trasaction Summar" issued by rile to

customers constituted a false statement because none of the "trades" detaled in the "Transaction

Summar" ever tok place.

Despite the representations that rile trded for customer accounts, ban records for the

period July 2000 though November 2004 regaring rIHe's offshore accounts at the Ban of

Nevis and the Candian Impenal Ban of Commerce ("CffC'') in the Bahamas demonstte that

no tring took place. For example, on or about Febru 12,2001, World Ban wire

transferrd $554,226.50 to imC's account 8290132 at the Ban of Nevis. In March and April of

2001, the records for ths account show that customer fuds were used to pay $44,000 to Erin

DeSantis and $5,000 to Jason and Tara Dèan. In May 2001, over $3 i 8,700 was wid to a
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Florida title company to purhase real estate located at 2410 NE 31 sl Cour, Lighthouse Point, FL

- Fra and Erin DeSantis' fonner waterfont home.

Similarly, between July 2000 and May 2001, other customer fuds were wired by World

Ban to IllC's account at cmc in the Bahas - over $164,650 - and used for a varety of

purses unlated to options trading.

The monthly account statements of the two llC accounts at the Ban of Nevis show that

approximately $6 milion was wire trsferr for a variety of puroses unlated to optons

trading, including trfers to the relief defendants as follows: Certified Financial Services, Inc.

($265,608.90), Jason's Roofing and Waterprofing, Inc. ($529,340), ERV & Associates, Inc.
,

($124,024), Joe Valko Enterprises, Inc.($Sl,045).

C. Conclusions of Law

1. IIRC Directlv Violated Section 4e(b) of the Act and Ree:ulations
1.1 and 32.9(a) and (e)

Misappropration of customer fuds violates the antifrud provision of the Act as well as

Commission reguations. See CFTC v. S1crupskas, 605 F. Supp. 923,932 (E.D. Mich. 1985)

(commodity pool operator's disbursing of 
investor fuds to other investors, herselfand her

family violated Section 4b of the Act). See also CFTC v. Morse, 762 F. 2d 60, 62 (8th Cir.

1985) (defendant's use of customer fuds for persona use violated Section 4b of the Act); and In

re Slusser, '27,701 at 48,315 (respondents violated Section 4b of the Act by surtitiously

retaning money in their own ban accunts that should have been trded on beha of the

investors); and In re Staryk, (1994-1996 Transfer Binder) Comm Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) ~ 26,701, at

43,923-24 (CITe June 5,1996), ald in reI. part, (I 998-1999 Trasfer Binder) Comm. Put. L.

Rep.' 27,515 at 47,374 (CFTC Dec. 4, 1998) (outlining requiements for optons fraud under

i '1Stc (.~ Ø'/'~~ Cn~ ~ ~ ~ ~~
-p ~ f(;f'dfM 7 ~ ~ ~ 4.J p~ l"j\~lrk'
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Section 4c(b) of the Act and notig parallels between applicable Commission Reguation and

Secton 4b(a) oftbe Act).

IIHC has cheated customers by misappropriatig their fuds. As set fort above, the

money trail associated with TIC's activities leas to the inescapable conclusion that no tring

activity ever occured. Rather, a substtial majority of the fuds are sent to offshore accounts in

a sporadic maner never to be retued to customers.

IIHC, thugh its agents, also defrauded prospective and actual customers by making

various misrepresentations and omissions. Wheter a misrepresentation has been made depends

on the "overall message" of the communcation and the "common understanding of the

infonnation conveyed." R.J. Fitzgerald, 310 F.3d at 1328; Hammond at 36,675 & 0.12. Scienter

has been found when representations ar made intentionally or with a reckless disregard for the

trth. In re Slusser, (1998-1999 Trasfer Binder) Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CeH)' 27,701 at 48,313

(CFTe July 19,1999), affd in relevant part and rev'd in part sub nom., Slusser v. cne, 210 F.

3d 783 (7th eir. 2000). A fact is material if a reasonable person would view the informtion as

importt in makng a trading decision - in other words, as including facts signifcatly altering

the tota mix ofinfonnation already in his possession. R.J Fitzgerald, 310 F. 3d at 1328. Such

actionable misrepresentations include those made to customers when soliciting their fuds.

CFTC v. Rosenberg, 85 F.Supp.2d 424, 447-48 (D.N.J. 2000)~ Saxe v. E. F. Hutton & Co.. Inc.,

789 F. 2d 105, 110-111 (2d Cir. 1986); Hirk v. Agr;-Research Council Inc., 561 F. 2d 96,103-

i 04 (7th eir. i 977).

IIHC made material misrepresentations to customers and potential customers by holding

itself out as a clearng firm that actully acted as a counterpar to forex options tranactions and

confinned the execution of those trsactions. TIHC also made material misrepsentations to
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customers every time it issued a "Trasacon Summar" to a customer. purorty detailing

forex optons trsactions tht were executed .on behalf of cusomers. Since no tradng actuly

occurd, ths representation was necessanly false. In a simlar maner, by falig to disclose th

fact that the entire enterprise was simply a scheme designed to cheat customer, it omitted a

material fact. See Waters v. Intl Precious Metals, 112 F.R.D. 479.488-90 (S.D. Fla. 1996).

At no time did IlC advise customers tht their fuds wer to be used, or actuly used,

to ennch the defendants and relief defendants instead of trding foreign curncy options

contracts. Misrepresenting material facts such as these in solicitig fuds frm prospective and

existg customers violates Section 4c(b) oftbe Act and Commission Regulations 1. & 32.9.

2. DBC Directlv Violilled Section 4c(b) oftbe Act and Reeultions 1.1
and 32.9lb)

Section 4c(b) of the Act provides that "no person shall offer to enter into or confrm the

execution of. any transaction involvig any commodity reguated under this Act which is of the

chacte of, or is commonly known to the tre as, an 'option,' ... contr to any rue,

reguation or order of the Commission prohibiting any such transaction. ..." Commission

Reguation 32.9(b) states that it is unawfl for any person to make or cause to be made to any

other person any false report or statement in connection with the entr into or the confinnation of

the execution of any commodty option transaction. Account sttements tht fasely represent the

value ora custmer's account æi peronnance of accounts consttute fal sttements in violation

of Reguation 32.9(b), an ai materal an consttute frud with respect to optons tranctions

under 4c) of the Act. i

) Secon 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act also prohibits making false report but in connection with commodit futures
trading. 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ìi) (2002). . Numerous court have found that the making of false reort concerning
profitaility of trading accounts a violation of Secion 4b(a)()(ii) of the Act The "false report" J8Jguage of
4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act is essntially identical to the "false report" language found in Regulation 32.9(b). See, e.g.,
CITC v. Noble Wealth Data Info. Serv., Inc., 90 F.Supp.2d 676, 686 (D. Md. 2000), aIId in part. vacated in parr
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From approximately July 20.00 and continuing thereafer, llHC and its agents made or

caused to be made false report or stateinents in connection with the confrmation of the

execution of commodity opton trsactions by preparg and trmitng to customer fase

statements entitled "Transaction Summar." As previously discussed, these statements were

issued on IIC leterhead purortdly from the "Chancer House. The Mall. Freeport, Grand

Bahama" address listed at the top of the statement. The statements stated "rT)he following

trades have been made this day for your account and risk," and listed options contracts

purortdly bought or sold on behalf of customers.

Despite the rereentations set fort in eah statement, customer fuds were not used by

IIHe to purchase options on foreign curency. The sttements were patently fraudulent because

IIHC misappropriated the customer fuds.

3. imC Violated Section 4c(b) of the Act and RegulaiIoD 32.11(a).

The CFMA clarfied the Commission's jursdiction over retal foreign curency options

when engaged with a counterpy tht is not B reguatd finacial intitution. By the ters of

the CFMA, the Commission's jursdiction over foreign curncy options include options on

physical curncies, and not just options on forex futues Contrts.2

Section 2(c)(2)(B)(i) and (ii) of the Act, 7 U.S,C. § 2(c)(2)(B)(i) and (ii) provides tht the

Commission shal have jursdiction over an agrement, contrt or traction in foreign curency

that is a sale of a commodity for futu delivery or an option, so long as the contrct is "offered to,

sub nom. CFT ". Ba,agosh, 278 F.3d 391 (41! Cir. 200Z). (defendat's profit claims constitute fals reports and

fraud within the meaing of the Act); CFT ex reI. Kelley v. Sko~psk.. 60S F. Supp. 923 at 932-33 (E. D. Mich.

1985)(defendants violated Section 4b(a) of the Aet by issuing false monthly stateent ro cusromers).
2 Section 2(c)(2XB) of the Act, as amended by the CFMA states, "This Act applies to, and the Commission shall
have jurisdiction over, an agreement, contrct, or trsaction in foreign curency that - (i) is II contret of sae of a
commodity for fuure delivery (or an option on such Ii contract) or an option (other than an option ø:iicued or tred

on a nationa seurities exchange ...; and (ii) is offred to, or enteed inro with, a pern that is not an.eligible
contract market parcipant, unless the counterpar, or the persn offering ro be the counterpar, of the person is -

(8 regu)øted entity)."
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or entered into with~ a person tht is not an eligible contract parcipant" uness the counterar, or

the person offerig to be the counterar, is one of the regulated entities enumerated in Section

2(c)(2)(B)(ii)(I-VI). Futues commission merchants an certain statutorily defined afliates are

regulated entities enumerated in that Section. Because IllC's cusomers are not eligible contrct

parcipants and because IllC ha never been a registered FCM or an afliate, the entire Act

applies to the trsactions at issue here. Consequently, Section 4c(b) applies to these tractions.

Section 4c(b) of the Act provides tht "no peron shall offer to enter into, enter into, or

conf the execution of, any trsaction involving any commodity regulated under ths Act which

is of the character of, or is commonly known to the trade as, an · option, ' ... contr to any rue,

regulation or order of the Commission prohibitig any such trsaction...." Commission

Reguation 32.1 1 (a), a rue promulgated pursuat to Section 4c(b), states that it is unlawfl for any

person to solicit or accept orders for the purhase or sale of any commodity option, or accept

money in comiection with the purchase or sale of any commodity option, except for commodity

option tractions conducted or executed on or subject to the rues of a. contract market. The

options offerd by Ille, and for which it accepted money, wer not "conducted or executed on or

subject to the rules of a contract market". Accordingly, rme violated Regulation 32.11(a).

4. Relief DefeDdsDts

A nomin or relief defendant is a person or entity that has received il-gotten fuds, and

does not have a legitimate claim to those fuds. SEe v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 136

(2nd Cir. 1998). A relief or nomin defendat is joined to aid in full relief without asserting

separate subject matter jursdiction over the person or entity. CFI v. Kimberlynn Creek Ranch,

276 FJd at i 9l; SEC v. Cherif 933 F.2d 403,414 (7th Cir. 1991)(nominal defendant is joined

as a means offaciltating collection, no subject matter jursdiction needs to be asserted as the
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relief defendat has no ownership interest) but merely possession of the fuds tht ar at the

tb .
center of the contrversy.); SEe \I. Colle/a, 139 F.3d 674,677 (9 Cir. 1998) (In order to effect

full relief in recovering asts that are the frit of the underlying frud, SEe could name a non-

par depository as a relief defendat.)

The Relief Defendats herein have received fuds frm th defendats tht were obtaed

though frudulent activities. The Relief Defendants have received these fuds but do not appear

to have provided any legitimate services in exchage for tle payments they received. These

individuas and entities intead appear to be vehicles by which IIHC and others hid assets and

moved customer fuds to off-shore accounts. .

Equitable remedies, includig disgorgement of il-gottn gain, ar remedies for

violations of the Commodity Exchange Act. CFTC v. American Metals Exch. Corp., 991 F.2d

71, 76 (3rd Cir. 1993) ("A number of cour have held that distrct cours have the power to order

disgorgeient as a remedy for violations of the Commodity Exchange Act for the pwpose of

depriving the wrongdoer of his il-gotten gais and deterrg violations of the law.") In this ease)

disgorgement by the Relief Defendants is necssa as these entities do not have a legitimate

claim to the fuds and a deterrent is necessar.

ORDER OF PERMANENT INJUCTION

IT is HEREBY ORDERED tht:

liRe is hereby peimanently enjoined from violating the Commodity Exchange Act and

Reguatons as charged and found herein, to wit, by soliciting anelor accepting orders for, anelor

accepting money, securties or propert in connection with, the purha and sale of commodity

options when: (a) such transactions have not been conducted or executed on or subject to the
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rules ofa contract market, or a foreign boar of trade in violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7

D.S.C. § 6c(b), (2002) and Regulation 32.l 1 (a), 17 C.F.R. § 32.11(a) (2004); it is fuer

.ORDERED that IllC is hereby penanently enjoined from vioIati the Commodity

Exchange Act and Reguations as chaged and found herein to wit, by committg fraud wmle

purortedly buyig and/or sellng commodity options in violation of 
Section 4c(b) of the Act. 7

D.S.C. § 6c(b) (2002), and Reguations 1.i(b)(1) and (3) and 32.9(a), 17 C.F.R. §§ 1. (b)(1) and

(3) and 32.9(a) (2004)~ it is fuer

ORDERED that IIRC and any oth person or entity associated with it, or any successor

theref, are prohibite from engaging in any activity relating to commodty interest tring,

including but not limited to, soliciting, accepting or reçeiving fuds, revenue or other propert

from any person, giving advice for compensation, or soliciting prospective cusmer, related to

the purchase and sale of any commodity futues or options on commodity futues contrcts.

ORDER FOR ANCILLARY EQUITABLE RELIEF

IT is FURTHR ORDERED that:

IIHC shall pay withn ten (10) days of ths order restitution in the amount of $6,060,000,

which represents the arouit solicited from customers. Post-judgment intest shal accrue on

the restitution amount at the rate set pursuant to 28 D.S.C. § 1961;

Relief Defendants shal disgorge withn ten (10) days their respectve il-gottn gains in

the followig amounts: Certfied Financial Services, Inc.: $363,428; Jason's Roofing and

Waterproofing, Inc.:$529,340; ERV & Associates, Inc.: $124,024; and, Joe Valko Enterprises,

Inc.:$70,i 16.
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ORDER FOR CIVI MONETARY PENAL TV

IT is FURTHER ORDERED that:

TIC is assessed and shall pay within ten CIO) days a civil monetar pealty of

$6,060,000.

Payment of the civil monetary penalty shall be made to the eommodity Futues Traing

Commission, Division of Enforcement, 1155 21st Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20581 to the

attention of Ms. Dennese Posey. Payment must be made by electronic fuds transfer, U.S. postal

money order, certfied check, ban cashier's check, or ban money order, made payable to the

eommodity Futues Trading Commission. The payment(s) shall include a cover letter that

identifies IIC and the name and docket number of ths proceeding. IIHC shall simultaneously

transmit a copy of the cover letter and the form of payment to the Director, Division of

Enforcement, Commodity Futues Trading Commission, 1155 21st Street, N.W., Washington,

D.e. 20581.

There being no just reason for delay, the Clerk of the Cour is hereby directed to enter

ths Order.

¡7/~ IS l',h'n cPE -'OJ;, ~G'UrTGD.

D01r ORDER in Clibe at Fort Laudale, Browad Conoty, Florda

this day of August, 2006.. .

cc: All Counsel of Record and Cour Appointed Receiver
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